Dear Sister:

     I am very sorry to tell you that I cannot pay that money

this month because the government did not pay me as I

expected and I haven't enough monye to buy stationery

let alone pay any of my bills. It sure makes me sore, but

I am sure I will be paid in full next month. If I'm not I

will be tempted to resign.

You don't know how rotten it makes a fellow feel to

realize that he hasn't a cent and will have to stay on the

island week after week without even enough money to pay

for his laundry.

And Christmas is coming.

I have been getting along fine with my flying. It is real

sport and I only hope I hurry through this school and the

next. I am to be given one of the fighting machines across

the pond, instead of a reconnaissance plane. I will make

myself known or go where most of them do.

The weather is ideal for flying and I am glad I was sent

to this school rather than to one in the North.

Do you remember those pictures I left with you say-

ing that I would write for them later? Those of Dixie,

etc.? Please send them, and my bathing suit also. If you

have a picture of mother and father, please send it.

If it wasn't for the Y.M.C.A. here I would not know

what to do. They have desks for writing and furnish pa-

per and envelopes. There always is a number of daily

papers on the rack and all sorts of magazines and books.

It sure is nice.

I will close hoping to hear from you all soon.

Your brother,

FRANK.

Two days after Frank wrote this letter he was permitted

to take his first solo flight. He had been warned repeatedly

to make this a matter of straight flying, but Frank had other

plans. He executed an easy, perfect take-off, slid up to the

altitude he desired, then kicked his ship into a loop.

He leveled off, fell into a steep falling leaf—a little too

steep, righted her again, then turned her nose down and

over.

Below, on the drome, angry and alarmed instructing

pilots followed his movements with anxious eyes and cursed

him feelingly. They trotted out to meet him as he taxied in.

"You hemstitched idiot!" one bellowed. "Who th' hell

told you you could stunt?"
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'Nobody, Luke gnoned. I watched a fellow do it this

morning and sort of got the knack of it."

They put him on the ground three days for that. But he

was too good a flier to be wasted. He wrote his mother in

early January and referred to flying as "very common now"

—this still only a matter of days since he had first flown

alone!

January 7,1918.
DEAR MOTHER:

I have not heard from you in some time, but hope

everyone at home is fine. I am still gaining weight and

am in the best of health. I finished the candy and nuts

today and they sure were great. I want to thank you again.

I also want to thank whoever sent these towels in the sep-

arate package. Were they also from you? They sure are

beauties.

How was Christmas at home? I suppose great as ever,

and what did the kids and you get? I was very sorry to

hear that Ed was confined to camp, but I suppose he is out

by this time.

Mother, I have met some little girl here. She sure is

nice. She and her mother have been taking me to all the

parks, beaches, etc. There are some awfully pretty places

here. I am invited to take supper with them next Saturday

evening and a long drive on Sunday. They treat me very

nicely. If things continue like they have been, I will hate

to leave here.

I am coming along fine with my flying; it is very com-

mon now. Some of the boys who graduated two weeks

ago received their commissions yesterday. They have been

strutting around here all day. I only wish I could receive

my commission before I get my furlough to go home. I

don't think there is much chance, because I am asking for

my leave as soon as I finish here and it generally takes

several weeks before we get our commissions. I suppose

you are tired reading this long letter, so I will close.

Love to all,

FRANK.

The little girl Frank hated to leave was Miss Mane Rap-

son of No. 767 Twelfth Street, San Diego, to whom he be-

came engaged before he left Rockwell Field. Miss Rapson

married several years later, and continued to live in San

Diego.

Despite the excitement of training for air battles in

France and his new love affair, Frank had not forgotten

Bill Elder. On January 15 he wrote:

DEAR BILL:

Just a few lines because I have so much to do Saturday

and Sunday evenings (the only days we get off) that I

nearly forget to go to bed.

I will be through with this course in a few days and am

going to get a two-week furlough to go home, so be sure

and find some good hunting grounds and we will have a

good hunt before I look for Germans.

Today a number of cadets received their commmis-

sions. Gee, I wish I would get mine before I go home! I

don't think there is much chance, though. Some of the fel-

lows have had hard luck. Their papers were lost, causing

them to wait two or three months for their commissions.

Things are getting straightened out so I don't think there

will be much trouble from now on.

My service record was lost, so I have not been paid

since I've been in the service. But I am going to be paid

in full in a few days. I'll have to celebrate.

I'll ring off, for the bull is running low and I've got to

write Pinney a letter.

Your pal,

FRANK LUKE, JR.

On January 23, 1918, Frank was commissioned a sec-

ond lieutenant in the Aviation Section, Signal Officers

Reserve Corps, and given the customary two-weeks' leave

before reporting at a port of embarkation for transportation

overseas.

He returned immediately to Phoenix, but that last good

hunt he had planned with Bill Elder was never taken. Frank

was too busy. There was equipment to buy, farewells to

be said, parties to be attended.

The day Frank was to leave for the East and France he

sought out Bill Elder. Like desert dusk, the war had sur-

rounded him imperceptibly and now it demanded its first

sacrifice-separation from Bill Elder.
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Tears, unashamed tears, stood in Elder's eyes as he

gripped Luke's hand.

"Please, Frank," he begged, "can't you make them let

me go with you?"

To Bill Elder it was a natural request: Frank Luke could

make anyone do anything.

Frank held the steadfast little man's hand tighter. Here

was a precious thing, this friendship. He would not find its

like again in life.

When he spoke he spoke seriously, for he was making

a promise.

"Stick it out, kid," he counseled. "Ill be a major soon

and then 111 make 'cm send you as my orderly."

Frank Luke meant that, and Bill Elder, sensing it, was

content. Frank wanted him.

They never saw each other again.

With him, participation in the war was a duty, and he

wrote of it as such during the sea interlude before he

traveled the glory and the gory road that led to a grave

behind a shell-wrecked house of God in Murvaux.

In a letter to his father, written on March 3, 1918, the

day before he sailed, he said:

DEAR DAD:

I am now aboard the old German Vaterland, one of the

largest and most up-to-date ships afloat. It sure is some

boat, just like a large hotel, and as comfortable as one.

The name has been changed to the Leviathan.

I am feeling great but I suppose I will be seasick for,

you know, I never have been on the water before. This is

the worst time of the year to cross, for it is very rough.

Of course these large boats are not so rough as the

smaller ones.

All of the boys are feeling fine and I know we are go-

ing to have a good trip.

Now, if anything happens to me, I don't want you to

feel bad, for you know I have done my duty and enjoy

doing it.

Even if it comes to the worst, my insurance is paid up

to date, $10,000 with the government and $1,000 with

the Equitable Life. I know that nothing is going to hap-

pen but I am telling you just the same.

I spent that hundred dollars you sent me in equipping

myself.

I did not write and tell mother of my going until the

last thing, for I will be across before she will have time to

worry.

Everything is fine and I am in the best of health. I have

plenty of extra money that may be needed on the other

side. I will not be able to write you for fifteen or twenty

days.

Give my best regards to all.

Your son,

FRANK.

poori M<i 1p.ftp,r again, for therein you will find much to

prove that Frank Luke, the grirming young hellion, the

easy-going buckaroo, was fine, splendid, kindly, consid-

easy-going
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erate. I have said he was arrogant. Let me say here that he

could be compassionate too.

"I did not write and tell mother of my going until the

last thing."

We all know men who would have done the opposite he-

cause their stature as a hero about to enter martyrdom

would have been enhanced. There was too much of the

real man in Luke for that. He knew that his mother had

other children, other worries. Why add to her burden with

a detailed chronicle of his dangerous adventures far afield?

That "all of the boys are feeling fine and I know we are

going to have a good trip" is Youth thumbing its nose at

the world. Maybe there was a war some place, but who

gave a damn?

On the other hand, there is stark, naked realism, a kind

of grim bargaining with death, in the reference to his insur-

ance. He tells his father not to worry if he falls under the

bludgeon of war, and couples the thought with insurance,

money, recompense.

Recompense!

What blind, self-centered ass first conceived the idea that

dead lips, once able to talk, to smile, to kiss, could be

compensated for with gold? It savors of a king's gesture,

and a craven king's; so chalk it down to some scented mon-

arch who bought his battles, his women, and his throne

with the lives and loves and honor of other men!

But young Luke's association of a death that might await

him behind some far horizon ~nd a sum of money is, in

itself, an indication of character. Vaguely he realized that

there is a debt owed by son to father, and this insurance

was one arrangement he had made to meet the obligation.

Frank Luke did not fear death; he did dread its igno-

minious aftermath. To have girls who had smiled upon him

forget his charms, to have men who disliked him cloak

their rancor with mock sorrow and mumble commonplace

praises-these lacked the color and the dignity of the liv-

ing great.

He needn't have worried. Long years after men who out-

lived him to pile minor achievement upon mediocre con-
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listed men's food. The boys were S. Halderman and Puk-

way, old Phoenix High football players in 14; Norman

Dunbar, who came to Phoenix last year, and Slim Fad-

lock from the Phoenix Fire Department, who is a ser-

geant. They are the first Phoenix boys I have seen since

leaving San Diego. They were up at Camp Funston with

Ed and played football with him there.

I am in the best of health and really anxious to finish

my training so I can match my skill with some of those

Hunfliers. I am not at a concentration camp, but will soon

be leaving for one. I am certainly anxious to get there as

I have not had a machine in my hands for over a month.

Will close with love to all,

FRANK.

On April 3 Frarik wrote to Bill Elder, and the opening

line of his letter suggests a previous missive since landing

in France. Elder later recalled vaguely a short letter from

Luke mailed in England, but he could not find it.

If this is so, Bill Elder, Frank's companion in so many

escapades and expeditions, was the first for whom he

recorded his arrival in the battle land.

In his April 3 letter Luke wrote:

DEAR BILL:

Wrote you some time ago but have not heard from you

yet. I suppose it is the long time it takes mail to travel.

I have had some trip. On our way over we were supposed

to have run into three subs.

The destroyers that were with us crossed the path of

one of them and dropped two depth bombs.

We heard them go off, but I haven't run into anyone

who really saw the subs. They claim one of them was de-

stroyed, for they saw oil and stuff rise to the surface.

I didn't like England so well for everything seemed so

dirty. Kids would run out all over asking for money. It is

bad in France, but not so bad as England.

The English farming country is beautiful. Being spring,

everything was covered with a pretty coat of moss and

there were beautiful hedges everywhere.

France is a very pretty country, everything seems so
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quest are dead and forgotten, fathers still will tell their

boys the story of Frank Luke with its inevitable closing

line:

"There, my son, was a man!"

Luke's family learned first of his arrival in France

through a short note to his mother, which follows:

March 19,1918.
DEAR MOTHER:

I am feeling great and enjoying my trip. I am very

sorry that I cannot write and tell you all about it, but you

know the censors will not allow it. It sure makes it hard

to write when we are so restricted, but this card will let

you know that I am fine and having a good time.

I am going down to the Chateau de Blois this after-

noon. It is very historical, was built in the Fourteenth

Century, and has played a great part in French history.

I like France. Everything is so old and the buildings are

made of stone and most of them have great stone fences

about them. Love to all,

FRANK.

A few days later, March 23, he wrote more of his im-

pressions in a letter to his father:

DEAR DAD:

I arrived in Paris o. k. after a wonderful trip. I have

seen quite a bit of the country, but it is strange because

everything seems so old and out-of-date. The old churches

and chateaus are beautiful. All of these old buildings are

surrounded by great stone fences. I have seen many his-

torical places connected with Joan of Arc, Napoleon, etc.,

but, unfortunately, I cannot tell you of them because this

would be revealing my station, which is prohibited.

The war certainly has brought great hardships to many,

although the food condition is not bad in this country.

With our help they are sure of victory. The American sol-

diers are treated well by the French, whose worst habit

is overcharging.

I took four Phoenix boys to dinner the other night. I

think they enjoyed it very much. I know I did. While I

have been having officers' mess they have been eating en-
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old. Great churches and chateaus all surrounded by great

stone fences. I have seen many places made famous by

Joan of Arc, Napoleon, etc.

I have not started to fly yet as the weather has been

holding us up, but I will in a few days. We have classes

every day and they are really interesting. I suppose be-

cause it is such vital stuff.

Everything must be learned thoroughly now for it will

come in handy when I meet some of my Hun enemies.

The morals of France are just about like you have

heard of them. About every other place is a wine shop.

Well, boy, sure would like to hear from you. My ad-

dress is Lieutenant Frank Luke, Jr., Air Service, United

States Reserves, A. E. F„ France.

Again m this letter Luke dwells on the evidences of age

about him. Old churches, old chateaux, and particularly

those old stone walls. Sturdy walls, grayed and moss-cov-

ered by the centuries, must indeed have seemed strange

to this lad accustomed to vast reaches of desert and grazing

land fenced only by the horizon.

Not that he never had observed monuments to time. As

a boy in his own Arizona, he had ridden to and beyond the

ruins at Casa Grande-old, ages old, when Vasquez de

Coronado and his gayly caparisoned caballeros discovered

them in their search for the fabled Seven Cities of Cibola.

But the dwellers at Casa Grande were dead-dust to be

wind-blown about the rampart-like walls that still stand to

mark their passing. This French age was different: it was

France itself, a France matured by years that came grace-

fully, touching lightly the landscape and the homes as some-

times it touches  mellowing grandes  dames  and old

gentlemen. Here the dwellers still lived as though age did

not kill them.

And through this setting, which so impressed him, moved

the mighty, breath-taking pageant of France and England

and his homeland at war.

Luke's first permanent station in these colorful surround-

ings was the Third Aviation Instruction center at Issoudun.

From there he wrote his next letter to Elder:
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April 20,1918.
DEAR PAL:

Received, two days ago, your letter of March 5 and

was very glad to hear from you. Pidge and Perry, from

what I hear, failed to get in. It seems that at the time

they reached Los Angeles the War Department sent or-

ders not to enlist any more for the aviation branch. I

would have liked to have seen Pinney get in. He sure

would have had to study, no bluff.

I just passed a double-seater motorcycle. One of the

fellows was carrying a pilot who had run into a tree and

smashed his head. Gee, it was a tough sight! His eyes

were bulged out and his head was one mass of blood.

He died a short while after reaching the hospital.

The trouble was a bad fog came upjust after he left the

ground. He tried to land before it reached him but was

too late, lost his way, and hit the tree.

Oh, boy, it's great to be up flying, practicing stunts,

and looking down on the earth spread out beneath you.

But there are always the new graves, in some of them

fellows you knew; there because of a faulty machine or

bad judgment. Well, boy, it may be me next but don't tell

anyone what I have told you. I would hate to have my

mother hear of it, because I tell her it is the safest branch

of the service.

My address is on the envelope.

Your pal,

FRANK.

What a picture of Frank Luke! A brother pilot dying

before his eyes, the new graves of others, the thought of

faulty machines and bad judgment-either one of which

might one day kill him, concern lest his mother worry, and

above it all that note of sheer gutty defiance:

"Oh, boy, it's great to be up flying!"

A week after he wrote this letter to Elder, Frank, like

almost every other member of the American Expeditionary

Forces, started a diary. He began it with a commonplace

reference to his transfer to Field Five and for a time kept

a detailed record of his activities at Issoudun.

The first interesting entry is dated April 29. It follows:
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were on the way, but I did not see either of them. The

first mechanic who arrived on a motorcycle said they had

seen me come down from Field Four and that I was com-

ing at such a terrific rate of speed that he became sick.

He said that if I had hit at the rate I was traveling they

wouldn't have been able to find the tail because it would

have been buried. I went up and made another spiral

and went home to my field.

When most men have come through an experience such

as the one Luke describes, they remain fear-shaken, dazed

for hours. How did it affect him?

"I went up and made another spiral."

It is easy to believe that this was the man who, in the

words of his Group Commander, Major Harold E. Hartney,

"was the nerviest, most courageous pilot who ever took a

combat plane off the ground!"

The day after the episode of the broken belt, Luke took

his plane to 12,000 feet, the highest he had flown yet. The

days that followed brought a series of minor crashes and

forced landings, the first on May 3. He wrote:

I started at 7:30 for Dommartin but had a forced land-

ing over the woods. I made for the field but the wind

drifted me into a ditch and I turned over. I hurt my shoul-

der and leg slightly. I smashed the wings, rudder, pro-

peller, and engine hood. French people rushed over to the

machine and pulled me out from under the wreck and

investigated my arm to see if it was broken. They brought

me a bottle of wine. Major Bunnell came by in a new

Packard and ran off the road. He told me that a Hun had

come down with a broken wing at Dommartin. I had a

nice dinner at a French farm and was treated fine that

night. A Ford machine came out for the wreck and took

it back to Issoudun. I went in a two-seater motorcycle,

with Victor Pichard, who was flying a hundred-and-

twenty horse-power from Field Eight and he saw me spin

in. He came down to see if I needed help and on landing

broke his undercarriage. Found a good hotel and stayed

the night. Next day I met some very nice girls.
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morning. Fog cleared. Had about one and a half hours'

flying and practiced twelve landings. Landings mostly

good. Had one narrow escape. After cutting off power I

wanted to catch it again and cut power high, intending to

have motor pull me in. Tried but motor would not catch.

Saw trees ahead. A long row of them. Could not go

around, so kept up my natural glide and zoomed between

two of them. The good Lord caused that gap. For that en-

tire line of trees was unbroken at all other points. I had

to put my plane at about eighty degrees to get between

them.

The excerpts from Luke's diary have been copied from

the original with painstaking care. Those terse, curt sen-

tences are so characteristic of him in action; quick, energy-

saving, every swing a blow landed. This is even more

startlingly apparent in his combat reparts.

In his diary he set down a clipped, vivid account of his

narrowest escape from death as a student pilot. It appears

under the date of May 1:

Went up to make spirals. Came down feeling I had

spiraled at ninety degrees. Instructor said it was pretty

good and that I had done about sixty degrees. Went up

again and think I brought her nearer ninety degrees. My

last spiral climbed 3,000 feet. Thought I would make a

sideslip, so threw her into it. After a 500-foot drop I

started pulling her out. The tail made a swing, nearly

throwing me from the machine. My belt came unfas-

tened. I caught the upper wing with my left hand and

saved myself. "The next minute I was in the bottom of

the machine jammed up against the controls.

By the time I recovered my position in the seat I had

dropped about 1,000 feet and was going at terrific speed.

I tried to sideslip, nose dive, everything to get out, but it

was of no use. It seemed useless and I felt that in the

next minute I would crash. As luck would have it I came

out about 100 feet from the ground, nearly stalled, but

dove and made a nice landing. That was so close that it

made it very uncomfortable.

In a very short time machines were flying overhead

looking for me. They thought I had crashed. Three motor-
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Large pieces of tin flew in all directions.

On May 30 Luke, with several other pilots, was ordered

to Cazau in southern France for further training. Frank

had spent most of the morning playing with several French

children who had been befriended by the fliers. One of the

aviators urged him to hurry with his packing so they all

could take the same train.

Luke turned to the smiling, wistful children who had

suspended their play until this so grand American could

rejoin them. He grinned a little sheepishly.

"You fellows go ahead," Frank said. "I'll meet you in

Cazau. I gotta play with these kids."

tQ

Read in the morning. In the afternoon took a trip to

Dommartin, Worthy Struthers and myself. On landing my

motor was missing. I had it fixed and started out again

in the rain. My motor went bad but I landed again. I had

a broken pusher rod. The others went back and Worthy

got lost. I slept at the Angleterre Hotel. The next morn-

ing I met two Paris girls.

In an entry marked, "May ninth to the fifteenth," he

wrote:

Rained. Have had several tail spins and one sideslip of

1,500 feet.

For May 17 his diary records:

a

Had a two-hour formation and I was leader. Next for-

mation McCord was leader. I was out of gas. A French-

woman asked me if I was married. I told her "no," and

she said, "Neither is my girl," pointing to a sixteen-year-

old girl. Walked two miles to get gas.

On May 20 he again tasted praise, and from a source

that must have pleased him, for it was Quentin Roosevelt

who lauded his flying ability. The diary entry reads:

Formation morning. Did stunts. In the afternoon was

leader of a world-beater formation. Roosevelt said, "Best

formation pulled off at camp." In the afternoon contour

flying. Left bunch. Started to pull up for telephone wires.

Motor died. Sharp turn to the left. Small field. High grass.

Rough. Just pulled over into a vegetable garden. Landed

o. k. Hard time getting out. Field so small and grass so

high did not leave ground until just about on ditch, then

I nearly turned over on the wing.

Two days later he reports another crash:

Had a new ship given to me. No. 445. Started up and

at about 500 feet pusher rod broke and tore off hood.

Landed in small field o. k. On ground rest of day. Ruined
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broUing wrath of his superiors.

He quit the flight to sail off on his own!

Hartney was waiting for him when he came in many

minutes after the patrol had returned and the pilots dis-

persed.

"Where the hell did you go?" he barked.

Green pilots who prospected on their own were not pop-

ular in any squadron. Their defalcation might cause the

annihilation of an entire flight.

"I had engine trouble," Luke explained blandly.

This was entirely possible, so Hartney let it pass. But

when, on the second patrol thereafter, Luke again deserted

the formation, Hartney advanced upon him fuming.

There was no willingness to accept reprimand in Luke's

attitude. He replied truculently:

"I got a Hun!"

"The hell you did! Where?"

Luke couldn't locate precisely where this combat had

taken place, with the result that it became the greatest con-

troversial air battle in the American Air Service. Luke was

-still is-called a windjammer, a four-flusher, and an out-

and-out old-fashioned, four-letter liar because of that vic-

tory he claimed to have won over German territory.

Laurence La Tourette Driggs, in his admirable book,

Heroes of Aviation, attempts to confound the Arizonian

with his own combat report, but the weight of evidence is

against Mr. Driggs.

In the chapter devoted to Luke, Mr. Driggs quotes one

of his combat reports wherein Frank says, "This was my

first combat," as proof positive that Luke's claim was spu-

rious.

But Mr. Driggs erroneously dates the report September

16 instead of August 16. The latter date is the one the

original-which I have seen-bears, and it is Luke's first

combat report. Unquestionably, this account, which fol-

lows in full, is the one he rendered:

Combat Report-August 16,1918.
Lieutenant Frank Luke reports:

My machine was not ready, so left an hour after for-

mation expecting to pick them up on the lines, but could

66

ting above, into the sun. The formation was strung out

leaving one machine way in the rear. Being way above

the formation, I cut my motor and dove down on the rear

man, keeping the sun directly behind. Opened fire at

about 100 feet, keeping both guns on him until within

a few feet, then zoomed away. When I next saw him he

was on his back, but looked as though he was going to

come out of it, so I dove again, holding both guns on

him. Instead of coming out of it he sideslipped off the op-

posite side, much like a falling leaf, and went down on

his back.

My last dive carried me out of reach of another ma-

chine that had turned about. They gave chase for about

five minutes, then turned back, for I was leading them.

My last look at the plane shot down convinced me that

he struck the ground, for he was still on his back about

1,500 meters below.

On coming home above our lines saw four E. A. [en-

emy aircraft]. Started to get into the sun and above, but

they saw me and dove towards me. I peaked for home.

Three turned back and the other came on. I kept out

of range by peaking slightly and he followed nearly to

Coincy, where he saw one of the Ninety-fifth [Squadron]

boys and turned about. The Ninety-fifth man could have

brought down this E. A. if he had realized quick enough

that it was an E. A.

The machine [the first he refers to] was brought down

northeast of Soissons in the vicinity of Jouy and Vailly.

Do not know the exact location as, this being my first

combat, did not notice closely, but know that it was some

distance within German territory, for Archies [anti-air-

craft] followed me for about ten minutes on my way back.

My motor was fixed at Coincy and filled with gas and

oil. Also found out that our formation had been held up

by the Salmson that it was to escort and had just started.

Left the ground to find them. Flew at about 5,000 meters

from Soissons past Fismes, but did not see the formation.

Saw one Salmson but no E. A. Returned home.

Major Hartney accepted this report and Luke was

credited officially with the plane, for it was the first on

the list with which the War Department provided me.
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them, taking his first flight as a man of importance. .It was

short-lived. One of Frank's bullets went in under Willy's

heart. They freed him from the rigging when the balloon

hit the ground, but he died a few days later.

After making arrangements to have his plane transported

to the home field, Luke returned in a side car and pro-

ceeded immediately to file his combat report.

Read it:

COMBAT REPORT-September 12, 1918.
Lieutenant Frank Luke reports:

Saw three E. A. [enemy aircraft] near Lavigneville and

gave chase, following them directly east towards Pont-

a-Mousson where they disappeared towards Metz. Saw

enemy balloon at MarieuUes. Destroyed it after three

passes at it. Each within a few yards of the balloon. The

third pass was made when the balloon was very near the

ground.

Both guns stopped, so pulled off to one side. Fixed left

gun and turned about to make one final effort to burn it.

The next instant it burst into great flames and dropped on

the winch, destroying it.

There was a good field near our balloons, so landed for

confirmation. The observer, Joseph M. Fox, who saw the

burning, said he thought several were killed when it burst

into flames so near the ground. Left field and started back

when my motor began cutting out. Returned to same field

and there found out my motor could not be fixed, so re-

turned by motor cycle. Attached you will 'find confirma-

tion from Lieutenant Fox and Lieutenant Smith. Both

saw burning.

"Attached you will find confirmation"! The insulting guts

of the lad risking a crash in a pasture lot not five minutes

after a spectacular victory to take a confirmation with him!

Here was one victory he would not be talked out of.

The squadron had heard of his feat by telephone from

the balloon company and was out to congratulate him

when he rolled in. They shook his hand, slapped him on

the back, and trooped along with him to his quarters. His

ground crew took on new importance and averred trucu-
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lently tnat mey nad Known all afternoon he would get a

balloon. Hadn't he said so?

The next morning his plane was flown back to the home

field to be received by awed mechanics. They had seen

other planes come in after combats; they had listened

to Luke's own account of his exploit; they knew he had

weathered the balloon defenses for three hawklike rushes-

still, the condition of the machine awed them.

It was riddled! Riddled, gouged, and splintered where

shrapnel and machine-gun bullets had registered on it.

The wings were slashed and torn, the fuselage a thing of

unsightly punctures. Here a neat, round hole; there a long,

jagged gouge. There was a hole through the seat, a shrapnel

gash not six inches from his body.

Luke poked his fingers through them and laughed, but

his chief mechanic saw nothing humorous in the situation.

"Lieutenant, I've seen a lot of planes come in," he said.

"But when they come in this way, the bird that drives 'cm

gets it and he gets it fast."

Luke grinned at him.

"They can't get me," he replied confidently. "Look at

that!"-inserting a finger in the hole through the seat.

"Why didn't that one hit me?"

While he lived that was his attitude; "They can't get

me!" Warned that his scorn of even the few rules of caution

of which a flier may avail himself would kill him, Luke

would laugh and ask:

"What's the matter? Afraid?"

The controversy over his first claim of victory still

rankled.

Luke had another characteristic, one that has taken a

long toll of life-curiosity.

This is best illustrated by a story' I have been told by

several officers who flew with him. Late one afternoon,

when Luke's flight was returning from a patrol, he de-

liberately swung out of the formation and turned back

over the lines. He landed a few minutes after the others

had come in. "What, in God's name, did you turn back

for?" they demanded.

The quiet sincerity of his answer convinced them of its

truth.
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the sun's brilliance as a screen-while Luke worked low

on the balloon. In the event of an attack on the balloon

strafer by enemy planes, Wehner could zoom down upon

the attackers-a fire-spitting avenger from out the fiery orb.

If not too busily engaged with the sausage, Luke would

participate in the dogfight certain to follow; but it was ten

to one Wehner would have to fight it out alone.

The balloon at Buzy occupied Luke only a few seconds.

A long, straight dive, a burst from both guns that pierced

the rolls of gassy fat where the rudder-like aftersection

bulged, a pall of flame-shot, odorous smoke. That was all.

But the Fokkers had seen him! The entire enemy flight-

eight planes-swooped down on his lone machine. He

sagged back on the stick, stood the quivering Spad on its

tail, and reached for his guns. Jammed!

The Hun leader veered off and up, fell over into perfect

attack position, and sprayed him with tracers. Behind him

two other Germans were raking his fuselage with short,

quick bursts. Bullets splintered his instrument board, fash-

ioned an openwork pattern in his wings. He rolled, tipped

the Spad over on one wing, and swung away. Then he saw

Wehner.

Throttle open, guns chattering, his goggled face poked

far over the edge of the cockpit, Wehner was charging

the enemy formation. He dived upon it from above, into

it, through it to the planes  on Luke's tail.  They veered,

forgot Luke, and shied off to meet this new menace.

Luke's air position was such that he could not read

Wehner's plane markings, and for the moment he thought

he was another foe speeding to the attack. Frank's guns

were useless, so he availed himself of the temporary respite

occasioned by Wehner's onslaught to speed away.

Luke repaired his guns and headed in the direction the

formation had taken. Wehner overtook him. They picked

up the formation, continuing the patrol until the flight was

over Abaucourt, where Luke again left it. He had spotted

an enemy balloon near BoinviUe.

Six times he dived on the unwieldy bag, scorning the

tempest of steel that lashed about him. Twice he pulled
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returned to the assault.

At Luke's first attack the balloon observer, armed with

a light machine gun, fired blindly at the plane roaring down

upon him, then abandoned the defense and jumped. Frank

didn't want him; but an Archie battery, banging away

below, annoyed him. With only seventy-five rounds left

in one gun, he dived and strafed it.

His guns empty, but with a scattered battery and a col-

lapsed observation balloon to mark where he had emptied

them, he again piloted a bullet-pocked plane back to the

Twenty-seventh's landing field.

That night Captain Grant perused Luke's combat report

with keen interest. It read:

COMBAT REPORT-September 14,1918.
Lieutenant Frank Luke reports:

I and Lieutenant Wehner were to leave with formation

to attack enemy balloon by order of C. 0. On arriving at

Buzy, left formation and brought down enemy balloon in

flames. While fixing my guns so I could attack another

balloon near by, eight enemy Pokkers dropped down on

me. Pulled away from them. They scored several good

shots on my plane.

I saw Lieutenant Wehner dive through enemy forma-

tion and attack two enemy planes on my tail; but, as my

guns were jammed, did not turn, as I was not sure it was

an Allied plane until he joined me later. You will find

attached confirmation of balloon.

Left formation at Abaucourt and attacked an enemy

balloon near BoinviUe. Dove at it six times at close range.

Had two stoppages with left gun which carried incendi-

ary bullets and, after fixing both, continued the attack.

After about seventy-five rounds being left in right gun, I

attacked an Archie battery at the base of the balloon. Am

sure that my fire took effect as the crews scattered.

After my first attack on the balloon the observer

jumped after he shot at me. The last I saw of the balloon,

it was on the ground in a very flabby condition. Confir-

mation requested.

"Why didn't you get that observer?" Luke was asked.

His reply was sterling proof of sportsmanship.
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Lieutenant Frank Luke reports:

I left formation and attacked an enemy balloon at

Boinville in accordance with instructions and destroyed

it.  I  fired  125  rounds.  I  then  attacked  another  balloon

near Bois d'Hingry and fired fifty rounds into it. Two con-

firmations requested.

And he wanted more! Again that afternoon he took the

air-after the formation, as usual. Let his own combat re-

port tell the story of that third balloon in one day.

COMBAT REPORT-September 15, 1918.
Lieutenant Frank Luke reports:

Patrolled to observe enemy activity. Left a little after

formation, expecting to find it on the lines. On arriving

there I could not find formation but saw artillery firing on

both sides. Also saw a light at about 500 meters. At first

I thought it was an observation machine but on nearing

it I found that it was a Hun balloon, so I attacked and de-

stroyed it. I was Archied with white fire, and machine

guns were very active. Returned very low. Saw thousands

of small lights in woods north of Verdun. On account of

darkness coming on I lost my way and landed in a French

wheat field at Agers about twenty-one hours thirty [9:30

P.M.]. Balloon went down in flames at nineteen hours fifty

[7:50 P.M.].

Official German records, incomplete in many instances

because of the rapidity of the German retreat during the

latter days of the war, disclose that Luke was well known

to the enemy as early as September 15. They list his vic-

tories of that day in detail.

In one of the enemy reports. Lieutenant Wenzel, who

used his parachute to escape from Luke's attack, described

how the Balloon Buster destroyed one strategically placed

bag that had lived through innumerable attacks by French,

English, Belgian, and American fliers. This was a drachen

in Balloon Company Eighteen of Balloon Battalion Thirty-

three.

It was Frank's first victory that day.

Luke returned by motor to an airdrome that buzzed and

hummed with the recounting of his exploits. An American
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ing redly in the night sky, had heard his motor whining

overhead, and reported another Yank air conquest to

Group Headquarters. The squadron gave the credit to Luke

before he arrived to claim it.

Wehner was the first to take his hand when he came in.

A spy congratulating a liar! Wehner, who had shot down

two balloons and three combat planes in three days. Luke,

who had cleared the skies of six enemy balloons in the

same period-a record never equaled.

Spy and liar!

Not now! You should have heard that smoke-blued mess

room. The clink of bottles and glasses, the scuff of sturdy

boots, a mild bedlam of excited voices.

"Tell us about it, Frank! Was there much Archie over

d'Hingry? Were there machine guns in any of the baskets?

Shut up, damn it, and listen! Were you shot up badly, Joe?

Oh, for God's sake, put down the bottle and give somebody

else a chance!"

That and its like for an hour. Liar and spy? Why, that

squadron would have closed a man's throat with his own

smashed teeth if he had dared breathe it. Aces-that's what

they were, aces! Men who would be dead within the week

consumed with admiration or with envy-as though it

mattered!

Messages! Flight commanders and squadron comman-

ders burning telephone wires for a brief "Good work," or

"Splendid," or "Tell 'em to leave one balloon for a sam-

ple." A side car rattling up to the door, a smart orderly,

and, "Group Commander's compliments, sir. He is proud

-" Oh, that bronze for their chests was well on its way

now!

On the morning of September 16 Luke and Wehner

again patrolled the front, but, other than for the evidences

of strife below them, they might have been flying over farm-

ing land at home. The German balloon line had become

wary. Twice they sighted German balloons, and twice the

bags were hastily lowered before they could approach with-

in range.

That afternoon Luke went to the Group Commander.

To Major Hartney and the Group Operations Officer, Lieu-
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too. Never squawked once, either. What it took to make a

man, Joe sure had. Only yesterday in that dogfight-

Wehner down in flames over LabeuviUel

Aimlessly Luke moved about the field, lost among fa-

miliar objects. Men passed him, saw his face, and withheld

a greeting. They, too, once bad friends with whom they

had laughed. Friends who had come down m flames over

some God-forgotten huddle in a field afar.

He went to his quarters. At this time every day he went

to his quarters. The night came in to cover him sitting

there on his cot. Feet moved in the corridor and a low voice

asked:

"Going to chow, Frank?"

No answer. Against the gloom there was a tensed blur

that was Frank Luke. The feet moved away softly and,

somehow, the owner was conscious that there were no tears

there in the dark. Frank wasn't the crying kind.

Could he have wept then, sobbed out his hurt as that

grimed mechanic had in a welter of tears that cleanses a

man, he might have lived more than eleven days. But tears

were a weakness and, by all eternal things, he couldn't cry

with Joe Wehner down in flames over LabeuviUe!

Outside a bugle sent shafts of brassy melody into the

night and Frank turned on bis light. He had forgotten.

There was a war and he had shot down some airplanes

in it and there was a combat-Joe Wehner down in flames
over LabeuviUe-report he had-down in flames over
Labeuville-to give to-Joe Wehner down-Major Hart-

ney.

His report finished, he sent it to the Major by an orderly.

The Group Commander took it eagerly, read it with avid

interest, for he knew then that it was a document which

would attract the eyes of men in generations to come-the

pilot's own account of the world's greatest single achieve-

ment in aerial warfare.

It read:

COMBAT REPORT-September 18, 1918.
Lieutenant Frank Luke reports:

Lieutenant Wehner and I left the airdrome at sixteen

98

we saw two German balloons near Labeuville. Maneu-

vered in the clouds and dropped down, burning both. We

were then attacked by a number of E. A. [enemy aircraft],

the main formation attacking Lieutenant Wehner, who

was above and on one side. I started climbing to join the

fight when two E. A. attacked me from the rear. I turned

on them, opening both guns on the leader. We came head

on until within a few yards of each other when my oppo-

nent turned to one side in a nose dive and I saw him crash

to the ground.

I then turned on the second, shot a short burst, and he

turned and went into a dive. I saw a number of E. A.

above but could not find Lieutenant Wehner, so turned

and made for our lines. The above fight occurred in the

vicinity of St. Hilaire. On reaching our balloon line, flew

east. Saw Archie on our side, flew toward it, and found

an enemy observation machine. I gave chase with some

other Spads and got him off from his lines. After a short

encounter he crashed within our lines, southeast of Ver-

dun. Lieutenant Wehner is entitled to share in the vic-

tories over both the balloons. Confirmations requested,

two balloons and three planes.

The confirmations came m, all of them. Frank Luke was

now the leading ace in the American air service. Ricken-

backer the mighty was five victories behind him. Luke had

a total of fourteen victories: four planes and ten balloons.

But the truly amazing feature of this record is that thir-

teen of his conquests were won in a single week, during

which there were two days-September 13 and September

17-on which he did not fly. On the eighteenth alone he

had bested five of his enemies.

Late that night. General Pershing took from an aide's

hand a military telegraph form and focused tired eyes on

one sentence:

Second Lieutenant Frank Luke, Jr., Twenty-seventh

Aero Squadron, First Pursuit Group, five confirmed vic-

tories, two combat planes, two observation balloons, and

one observation plane in less than ten minutes.

Not a word about Joe Wehner, but that was as it should

be. Generals do not count their dead, only their victories.
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months, the hangars are in fair shape, and we can get in'

some good work before they shell us out. If you don't want

to send a flight up, Major, let me go alone. Please, let me

try it."

Once before Luke had talked in that vein and the great-

est two-man balloon offensive in aerial history had resulted.

Once before Hartney had considered one of Luke's daring

propositions only to arrive at the conclusion that his job

was to get victories, not safeguard individuals.

"All right," the Major said.

The flight moved up under the command of Jerry Vas-

concelles, the captain whose praise of pilots who volun-

tarily attacked balloons had launched Luke on his balloon-

busting career.

If Frank was elated over the acceptance of his sugges-

tion, it was not displayed in his manner. He was blunt,

taciturn. A terse reticence crept into the letter he wrote

his mother on September 25-his last letter home.  It

follows:

September 25,1918.
DEAR MOTHER:

I have not written for some days now on account of

being so busy, as no doubt you have already heard. This is

only a line to let you know that I am 0. K. Now, moth-

er, remember that I have passed the dangerous stage of

being a new hand at the game, so don't worry, for I now

know how to take care of myself.

Love to all,

FRANK.

No word of Joe Wehner. No attempt to tell with honest,

deserved pride of his victories. No pouring of himself on

paper, that the one who always had soothed his hurts might

know and comfort him from afar. He could not find ex-

pression even for his mother, and when a man becomes

that self-contained there is a bad fall and a reckoning at

the end of the road.

Frank continued to regard himself as a balloon blister,

and merely awaited the assignment of a flying mate to con-

tinue the twilight assaults he and Wehner had inaugurated.
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Lieutenant Ivan A. Roberts of South Lee, Massachusetts,

was detailed to fly with him, and on September 26 they

made their first dual flight. Frank bolstered his score with

a victory over an enemy combat plane, a conquest he de-

scribes tersely in the ensuing report:

COMBAT REPORT-September 26, 1918.
Lieutenant Frank Luke reports:

On patrol to strafe balloons in vicinity Consenvoye and

Sivry I attacked with two others [a third plane had joined

them after they left the airdrome] a formation of five

Fokkers. After firing several short bursts, observed the

Hun go down out of control. While at 100 meters [328

feet] I was attacked by two E. A. [enemy aircraft] so I

did not see the first E. A. crash.

I turned on the other two who were on my tail, getting

on the tail of one, but guns jammed several times and

after fixing both could only shoot short bursts on account

of the several stoppages. One confirmation requested. The

last I saw of Lieutenant Roberts, who was on this patrol

with me, was in combat with several Fokkers in the vicin-

ity of Consenvoye and Sivry.

'Tt1a fatp nf T.Tfntpnant Rnhprtt i<; nhrr~l+pri nntTn rnipf-

ture and rumor. He was seen to crash in German territory,

but thereafter no authentic chronicle of his movements is

available. Late in 1920 Captain Grant received at his Los

Angeles home the following letter, addressed to the Secre-

,  A      *   ~ T ~_-•- -  XT-___ ~r~~i- f~\*L~_.
10.1 y, nUlCLW-dIl Lt~gnJU, INCW  IOTK ~ICy:

DEAR SIR:

Please to forward the following information to the fam-

ily of Lieut. Ivan A. Roberts.

Lieut. Roberts on the evening of Sept. 25th [should

be September 26], 1918, rolled, engine trouble to ground

about 12 kilos east of Sivry. On the morning of Sept.

26th, 1918, he was picked up with lacerated scalp and

slightly wrenched hip by H. M. Prussian Guard, 42nd

Squad.

On Oct. 2nd, 1918, he arrived at the place where I was

held prisoner, a temporary structure on Murg River in

Baden about 50 kilos from Sackingen. I will not detail our

experiences.
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Rembercourt was marked by the firing of rockets and signal

pistols. By noon of September 30, American Balloon Head-

quarters had confirmed his three victories, but there was

no word of Frank.

One of the barbed courtesies of air combat was the cus-

tom of dropping a note within the enemy's lines, informing

him of the fate of a noteworthy flier. Although there were

many cases wherein this service was not rendered, it is

entirely possible that Luke's death was not so reported

because he did not fall as a result of battle between fighting

planes.

As time passed and no word of his arrival in a German

prison camp came from the various agencies, official and

underground, through which such news traveled, his squad-

ron came reluctantly to regard him as dead.

The Armistice came; the world got drunk, boasted about

its hangover, and went back to work. The armies retired

to the nameless places where disbanded armies go. New

quarrels arose to obliterate the old. And still Frank Luke

was missing in action.

Not until January 3, 1919, when the following letter

was written, did the American military authorities have

definite word of his death:

FROM: Graves Registration Officer, Neufchateau Area

No. 1.

To; Chief of Air Service, A. P. 0. [American Post

Office] 717.

SUBJECT: Grave, unknown American aviator.

1.  Units of this service have located the grave of an

unknown aviator killed on Sunday, September 29, 1918,

in the village of Murvaux.

2.  From the inspection of the grave and interview held

with the inhabitants of this town, the following informa-

tion was learned in regard to this aviator and his hero-

ism. He is reported as having light hair, young, of me-

dium height, and of heavy stature.

3.  Reported by the inhabitants that previous to being

killed this man had brought down three German balloons,
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eleven German, soldiers and wounding a number of

others.

4.  He was wounded himself in the shoulder and evi-

dently had to make a forced landing. Upon landing he

opened fire with his automatic and fought until he was

killed.

5.  It is also reported that the Germans took his shoes,

leggings, and money, leaving his grave unmarked.

CHESTER E. STATEN,

Captain of Infantry,

G. R. S. Officer.

Although everyone at air headquarters believed this to

be Luke's grave. General Pershing personally ordered a

General Headquarters staff officer to make an investiga-

tion. The Distinguished Service Cross, issued primarily on

Captain Grant's recommendation, already awaited Luke,

and the Italians desired to confer upon him the Croce di

Guerra. The bronze for his chest was accumulating.

The staff officer's report reads:

UNIDENTIFIED AVIATOR

1.  This officer was killed at Murvaux (five kilometers

east of Dun-sur-Meuse on Sunday, September 29, 1918.

The Germans stripped him of all identifications, but Cap-

tain McConnick of the Three Hundred and First Unit,

Graves Registration, stationed at Fontaine near Murvaux,

stated concerning the death of this aviator, that he ex-

humed the body, that it was a man of medium height,

heavy set, and with light hair. On his wrist he found an

Elgin watch No. 20225566, which was under the sleeve

of his combination and which the Germans had evidently

missed. . . .

4.  The description of this aviator by Captain McCor-

mick, and the fact that Lieutenant Luke dropped a note

to a balloon company that day stating that he was going

to shoot down the balloons which were shot down, make

it almost certain that this officer was Second Lieutenant

Frank Luke, Air Service, whose nearest relative is Frank

Luke, 2200 West Monroe Street, Phoenix, Arizona.

5.  If the Air Service wishes to check this case it is
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suggestea ulal a represenTanve oi ine Air service oe senT

to Murvaux and obtain sworn statements from the French

people of that village.

Officers of the Rembercourt Field went to Murvaux,

a scant two hours' ride by motor car, and obtained the

following sworn statement from some of the citizens of

that village:

AFFIDAVIT

"The undersigned, living in the town of Murvaux, De-

partment of the Mouse, certify to have seen on the twenty-

ninth day of September, 1918, toward evening, an Amer-

ican aviator, followed by an escadrille of Germans, in the

direction of Liny, near Dun (Mouse), descend suddenly

and vertically toward the earth, then straighten out close

to the ground and fly in the direction of the Briere Farm,

near Doulcon, where he found a captive balloon, which

he burned. Following this he flew toward Milly (Mouse),

where he found another balloon, which he also burned,

in spite of an incessant fire directed against his machine.

There he was apparently wounded by a shot fired from

rapid-fire cannon. From there he came back over Mur-

vaux, and with his machine gun killed six German sol-

diers and wounded many more.

Following this he landed and got out of his machine,

undoubtedly to quench his thirst at a near-by stream. He

had gone some fifty yards, when, seeing the Germans

come toward him, he still had strength to draw his re-

volver to defend himself, and a moment after fell dead,

following a serious wound received in the chest.

Certify equally to having seen the German comman-

dant of the village refuse to have straw placed in the cart

carrying the dead aviator to the village cemetery. This

same officer drove away some women bringing a sheet to

serve as a shroud for the hero, and said, kicking the

body:

"Get that out of my way as quickly as possible."

The next day the Germans took away the airplane, and

the inhabitants also saw another American aviator fly very

low over the town, apparently looking for the disappeared

aviator.

Signatures of the following

Perton                        Leon Henry

Rene Colin                  Cortlae Delbart

Auguste Cuny                Gabriel Didier

Henry Gustave              Camille Phillipe

Eugene Coline               Voliner Nicholas

Odile Patouche                 Vallentine Garre

Richard Victor                Gustave Garre

The undersigned themselves placed the body of the avi-

ator on the wagon and conducted it to the cemetery:

Cortlae Delbart, Voliner Nicholas

Seen for legalization of signatures placed above:

The Mayor, AUGUST GARRE,

Murvaux, Jan. 15,1919.

[Seal of Murvaux]

The German version of Luke's death, never before pub-

lished, is almost identical with the French.

Lieutenant B. Mangels, who after the war resided in

Miinster, commanded the balloon company controlling the

last two balloons Luke vanquished, and directed the ma-

chine-gun fire that gave Frank his death wound.

For some time there was a controversy between Lieuten-

ant Mangels and Lieutenant G. Roesch, who commanded

an antiaircraft battery near the balloon; but Roesch has ad-

mitted that it was Mangels' machine gunners who brought

the Balloon Buster down.

On September 29, one of Lieutenant Mangels' balloons

was aloft northwest of Murvaux on the western slope of

the Cote St. Germain. This was balloon Number Thirty-

five of the Fifth German Army. A short distance away, over

Briere Farm, hung balloon Number Sixty-four-the sec-

ond bag Luke shot down on his last flight.

As Frank's plane dived for the third sausage, Mangels,

who was on ground duty, personally directed a concen-

trated machine-gun fire against the Arizonian's plane and

is certain he registered on the pilot's body.

Learning a few minutes later that Luke had crashed be-

yond Murvaux, Mangels hurried to the scene, but found

Luke dead when he arrived. Mangels, the first officer to

arrive, was able to identify the body as Luke's through an

English citation, the finding of which he describes:
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